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MERCED COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

The Merced County Courthouse, completed May 7 , 1875, is a fine example of 
the expertise of one of the California State Capitol Architects, A. A. Bennett, 
Mr. Bennett, the winner of a competition, was awarded the prize of $500 plus 
six per cent of the building costs. His services included supervision of the 
construction. The building was constructed for $55,970 by A. W. Burrell and 
Company. This building is the best proportioned and well handled of its 
type in central California. Its facade, rendered eclectically in the 
Italian Renaissance style, is typical of the American esthetic for public 
buildings before the turn of the century. True to tradition, this courthouse 
symbolically illustrates the American ideal of respect for justice. The 
sensitive handling of this building is perhaps due in part to its having 
preceded the transition from eclecticism to Classic design. The commercial 
glut of Classicism was precipitated by the World's Columbian Exhibition of 
1893.

This sixty by ninety five foot building consists of a three storied brick 
structure and rises to a height of sixty feet. The building is plastered 
and painted white. Modeled in a:-manner similar to the Renaissance Italian 
Palazzo, the exterior walls have a smooth texture at the ground floor, 
with stonework modeled in plaster at the first floor and smooth treatment 
again on the second floor facade. The building was designed to sit in a 
four block landscaped park and is oriented on a north-east axis. Over 
half of the original park is maintained as such, however, subsequent pub­ 
lic buildings have encroached from the north side. The main entrance and 
two other sides are framed by the original trees, and thus, the major 
view remains relatively intact.

Only the addition of one wing to the north side in 1913 has changed the 
original appearance. Instead of detracting from the building, however, the 
addition enhances the total design by the effective juxtaposition of a 
large mass to a smaller one. This modification created a stronger compo­ 
sition than either could have achieved singularly. The addition consists 
of the assessor's office on the ground floor with the recorder's office 
and mezzanine on the second floor. Natural illumination of the recorder's 
office and mezzanine was provided by a large skylight with artificial illum­ 
ination by gas light. Entry to these offices is from the east through a 
hall that joins the original building with the later structure.

The south side of the building has a portico with balcony which delineates 
the major entry. The portico is proportioned as gracefully as that of the 
Erechtheion. However, Mr. Bennett, unlike Mnesicles, chose Doric shafts 
with Corinthian capitals for the portico columns. The balcony is trimmed 
with a spindled wooden handrail.
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The various floors of the building are divided by simple double loaded 
corridors broken on one side by stairs. The corridor is terminated by 
the assessor's office at the north end of the ground floor and by the 
recorder's office above on the first floor. The stairs, decorated with 
darkly stained and highly carved redwood newel posts, are complemented 
by carved railing.

The functions carried out on each floor are arranged in ascending order 
of actual or symbolic importance. Entering from the south, one walks 
under the portico stairs, across a checkerboard patterned marble walk and 
through doors to arrive at the surveyor's office. The sheriff's office 
and the jail were originally located further down the hall. The superior 
court room is located on the top floor. The judge's bench, which has long 
since disappeared, was monumental. Following tradition, the bench was de­ 
signed to literally place the judge on a pedestal in order that justice 
be revered.

Originally the court room was divided into two parts. One half was used 
for public seating, while the other half was occupied by the jury box and 
the bench. The two areas were separated by a dark, stained redwood rail­ 
ing. Natural illumination of the court room was admitted through seven 
windows and a beautiful skylight. Although the skylight has been roofed 
over, it still remains visible from inside the building. Artificial il­ 
lumination was provided by gas light.

Pot bellied stoves, which burned wood, provided heat for each room. The 
flues were concealed in the walls but appeared on the roof as ornate chim­ 
neys. The stoves were later replaced by steam radiators. Running water 
was pumped by a windmill and stored in two brick cisterns near the build­ 
ing, but by 1889, water was piped directly from Lake Yosemite. An octagon­ 
al shaped outhouse served courthouse personnel during this era, but was re­ 
placed by indoor facilities in the early 1900's.

The building's roof, constructed of redwood trusses is crossed by two 
vaults and crowned by a cupola. The cupola's dome rests on two stacked 
drums. Access to the drums is by the original wooden spiral stairs. The 
lower drum is decorated with doubled columns in the Palladian motif, with 
Corinthian capitals and windows arched in the Roman style. The upper drum 
is also pierced by Roman style windows which are flanked by pilasters, 
which complement the lower drum. The small dome's graceful design, remin­ 
iscent of Brunnelleshi's Dumo, is topped by a laminated wooden statue of 
Minerva, the Roman goddess of wisdom. Wooden statues of justice adorn
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three of the vault ends. A possible fourth statue of justice was not 
placed at the north end, perhaps indicating that the architect master 
planned the later addition. The roof is handsomely trimmed by a 
parapet of spindled handrails. The handrails are interrupted at roof 
midpoint by vaults and by chimneys located at the corners of the roof.

A courthouse in Fresno, California, also completed in 1875, was almost 
identical in every detail to the one in Merced. It was so similar that 
one is drawn to conclude that Mr. Bennett was also the architect for 
this courthouse. Unfortunately, the Fresno courthouse was; drastically 
modified in 1893 by the addition of two wings, three stories high. 
The addition was done in the classic style. Classicism was at the apex 
of its popularity in that year. A monumental portico and a larger dome 
were also added. These additions, necessitated by an earlier fire and 
crowded facilities, caused the well proportioned original building to 
become lost within a clumsy shell. Later, the entire building at Fresno 
was demolished. Its twin in Merced remains relatively unscarred.
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ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

1. This courthouse is a physical reminder of the transition of the area 
from a struggling pioneer community to a prospering county.

2. This building was and still is a major visual city and county landmark.

3. This building is one of few historic buildings that has suffered only 
minor alteration to its original appearance. Although courthouse 
functions were moved to a new building in March of 1975, this building 
served its original purpose for 100 years.

4. This building is the best example of the Italian Renaissance revival 
remaining between Sacramento and Los Angeles.

5. This building's almost identical twin has already been destroyed.

6. This building is in itself a museum of genre architecture.

7. This building could be used in the future as a county cultural museum 
and/or a county agricultural museum. There is no museum in Merced at 
this time.
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